

CONFEDERATION OF PAPER INDUSTRIES LIMITED

BYELAWS

Adopted on 3 November 2015

Revised 1 November 2023

CONTENTS

Clause	
1	Preliminary
2	Name
3	Role of CPI
4	Membership of CPI
5	CPI Council
6	Finance and Management Board
7	General Meetings
8	Directors and Staff
9	Delegation
10	Finance
11	Statistics
12	Health & Safety
13	Competition Law
14	CPI Sector Bodies
15	CPI Issues Management Committee
16	Revision of the Byelaws

Preliminary

- 1.1 All rules made by the directors in accordance with the Articles of Association, and any amendment to them made by CPI Council or Full Members, will be known collectively as the Byelaws.
- 1.2 These Byelaws should be read in conjunction with the Articles of Association of the Company (“the Articles”) and in the event that the provisions of these Byelaws conflict with the Articles, the Articles shall prevail.
- 1.3 Words and expressions defined in the Articles will bear the same meanings in these Byelaws.
- 1.4 Nothing in the Byelaws permits the directors, CPI Council or the Full Members to make any rules that are inconsistent with or affect or repeal anything in the Articles or in any resolution passed by Members or agreement to which Chapter 3 of Part 3 of the Companies Act 2006 applies.

Name

- 2.1 The name of the Company is Confederation of Paper Industries Limited and its abbreviated name is CPI.

Role of CPI

- 3.1 The mission statement of CPI is:

CPI aims to unify the UK’s Paper-based Industries with a single purpose in promoting paper’s intrinsic value as a renewable and sustainable fibre based material, enhancing competitiveness through seeking to reduce legislative and regulatory impacts and in adding value through spreading best practice.

This it achieves by:

- identifying, analysing, and resolving issues;
 - informing Government, the media and the public by presenting the industry’s views in a coherent, consistent and targeted manner.
- 3.2 CPI is working to promote:
 - a positive image for paper
 - secure energy supplies at competitive prices
 - resource efficiency within a coherent waste strategy
 - the benefits of packaging
 - a sustainable UK Paper Industry
 - manufacturing as a vital part of a balanced economy
 - a competitive, level playing field for the UK’s Paper-based Industries

Membership of CPI

- 4.1 Subject to the Articles and Byelaws, a person involved in the Paper Industry may, at the absolute discretion of CPI Council, become a member of CPI on payment of the appropriate membership subscription. All Members agree to be bound by the Articles and Byelaws of CPI.
- 4.2 The conditions of membership of a Full Member, and the rights and privileges of such a member, are set out in the Articles.
- 4.3 The terms on which a member may resign or have their membership terminated are set out in the Articles.

- 4.4 Other than for Full Members, the directors may make such rules regarding the classes and conditions of membership and the rights and privileges of members.
- 4.5 Membership as an Associate Member is available, at the discretion of CPI Council, to any person not eligible for membership as a Full Member but which is otherwise interested in the Paper Industry. An Associate Member shall be entitled to receive publications and other literature prepared by or for CPI, and otherwise is entitled to participate in the affairs and activities of CPI as decided by CPI Council.
- 4.6 An Associate Member is not entitled to participate in the decision making process and governance of CPI. Associate Members are not entitled to vote on the business of CPI.
- 4.7 Membership as an Affiliate Member is available, at the discretion of CPI Council, to any association or recognised body interested in the UK Paper Industry. An Affiliate Member shall be entitled to receive publications and other literature prepared by or for CPI, and otherwise is entitled to participate in the affairs and activities of CPI as decided by CPI Council.
- 4.8 An Affiliate Member is not entitled to participate in the decision making process and governance of CPI. Affiliate Members are not entitled to vote on the business of CPI.
- 4.9 Any Member wishing to resign may do so by giving at least six months' notice in writing to expire on the earlier of 30 June or 31 December next following and shall be liable to pay the proportionate rate of the annual subscription until expiry of the notice. Upon resignation a Member shall cease to have any interest in or claim upon any of the funds of CPI.

CPI Council

- 5.1 The affairs of CPI shall be governed by the CPI Council which shall comprise -
 - one nominated senior representative from each of the "major" Full Members who are defined as those Full Members, numbering not less than 12, having the highest sales turnovers and in aggregate contribute as close to, but not less than, 80% of CPI's membership subscription income, plus
 - one additional nominated senior representative from each of those "major" Full Members that operate in more than two of the industry sectors represented by CPI Sector Bodies formed in accordance with clause 14.1, plus
 - one nominated senior representative from each of the CPI Sector Bodies, plus
 - co-opted members, being persons appointed (and removable) by CPI Council from time to time with full regard to the overall interests of Members, plus
 - the CPI Director General.
- 5.2 Sales turnover referred to in clause 5.1 shall be the sales turnover used in calculating the membership subscription, and the membership subscription shall be determined in accordance with paragraph 34.4 of the Articles.
- 5.3 A senior representative from a Full Member shall normally hold the position of Chief Executive, Managing Director or equivalent within their Member organisation. A senior representative from a CPI Sector Body shall be a member of that Sector Body's own council.
- 5.4 No more than two representatives on CPI Council shall be from the same Full Member.
- 5.5 Each CPI Council member (the "appointer"), with the exception of the CPI Director General, shall propose the appointment of an alternate to exercise that Council member's powers and carry out their responsibilities in relation to the taking of decisions by CPI Council in the absence of the alternate's appointer. All proposed

- appointments or removal of alternates must be notified to the CPI Director General. All appointments of alternates shall be approved by CPI Council.
- 5.6 A member of CPI Council shall cease to be a member if he or she resigns, or ceases to be the nominated representative of a Full Member or Sector Body, or has his appointment as a co-opted member terminated by CPI Council, or ceases to be the CPI Director General.
 - 5.7 CPI Council members shall elect a President, a Senior Vice President and 2 further Vice Presidents from amongst their number. They shall hold office for a period of two years and shall be eligible for re-election. In the event of the President, Senior Vice President or Vice Presidents resigning or ceasing to be a member of CPI Council, CPI Council shall elect a replacement to serve for the remainder of the term.
 - 5.8 The President of CPI shall also be the Chairman of CPI Council.
 - 5.9 CPI Council shall meet at least once a year.
 - 5.10 The President or Director General of CPI may call emergency meetings of CPI Council in such circumstances as he shall, in his absolute discretion, consider appropriate.
 - 5.11 The Director General or Company Secretary of CPI shall at any time on the requisition in writing of at least four members of CPI Council, summon a meeting of CPI Council.
 - 5.12 A resolution put to the vote at a meeting of CPI Council shall be decided by a show of hands and passed by a majority of not less than three-quarters of the votes cast by those present. A declaration by the Chairman of the meeting that a resolution had been carried by a particular majority or lost or not carried by a particular majority shall be conclusive evidence thereof.
 - 5.13 Each Full Member and each CPI Sector represented on CPI Council and each co-opted member shall have one vote. The Chairman shall have a second, or casting, vote in the event of equality. For the avoidance of doubt, where a Full Member has two representatives on CPI Council, only one of those representatives shall be entitled to vote on behalf of that Full Member.
 - 5.14 CPI Council members participate, and are present, in a CPI Council meeting when they can communicate to each other any information or opinions they have on any particular item of the business of the meeting. In determining whether CPI Council members are participating and present in a CPI Council meeting, it is irrelevant where any CPI Council member is or how they communicate with each other. If all the CPI Council members participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they may decide that the meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of them is.
 - 5.15 The quorum for a meeting of CPI Council is:
 - four representatives from amongst the “major” Full Members.
 - 5.16 A resolution in writing signed by a majority of not less than three-quarters of all the CPI Council members at the time of the resolution shall be as effective for all purposes as a resolution passed at a meeting of the CPI Council duly convened, held and constituted, and notwithstanding that such resolution be signed at different places or times. On a written resolution, every CPI Council member shall have one vote.
 - 5.17 CPI Council may, by a resolution passed by a majority of not less than three-quarters of all the CPI Council members at the time of the resolution, remove any CPI Council member and request the nomination of another representative from the Full Member or CPI Sector Body (which nominated the removed CPI Council member) in his place.
 - 5.18 The CPI Council may from time to time convene and disband committees, sub-committees or working groups for specific tasks and appoint chairmen and members who are normally employees of Members.

Finance and Management Board

- 6.1 The CPI Finance and Management Board (FMB) is responsible to CPI Council and shall comprise the CPI's President, Senior Vice President, and the 2 Vice Presidents (who are the Officers of CPI) and the CPI Director General and CPI Company Secretary (who are the Executive of CPI), and those persons who accept an invitation from the FMB or CPI Council to join the FMB.
- 6.2 The purpose of the FMB is to oversee the business, finances and affairs of CPI with delegated authority of the CPI Council.
- 6.3 The responsibilities of the FMB shall include the following –
- To oversee the finances of CPI, prepare budgets, forecasts and accounts and report on same to CPI Council.
 - To keep under review the CPI subscription model and, if considered appropriate, recommend changes to CPI Council.
 - To fix from time to time the membership subscriptions payable by Members.
 - To keep under review the governance of CPI and its Councils and Committees and, if considered appropriate, recommend changes to CPI Council.
 - To oversee the selection, appointment, removal, and terms and conditions of employment of the Director General and the Company Secretary of CPI, and to have the right to be informed of decisions made by the CPI Director General in relation to such matters for all other members of CPI staff.
 - To ensure that the activities of CPI's Sector Bodies coordinate with the objectives of CPI.
 - To ensure that CPI Committees are managed efficiently and effectively in the best interests of CPI Members.
- 6.4 The FMB shall ensure that the Articles and Byelaws, and any amendment to them, is made available to Members in a timely manner and in a format considered suitable and sufficient by the FMB.
- 6.5 An FMB meeting shall be considered quorate when there are at least three members present, comprising at least two Officers and at least one Executive.

General Meetings

- 7.1 The rules governing the organising of general meetings of members and voting of members are set out in the Articles.

Directors and Staff

- 8.1 The CPI Council shall appoint a Director General who shall be responsible to it for the management of CPI and who shall also be the principal representative of CPI. The Director General may nominate persons, normally members of staff or employees of Members companies, to represent CPI on outside bodies.
- 8.2 CPI Council may appoint a Finance Director and any other director it thinks fit. Each individual Officer of CPI and the CPI Director General is expected to agree to their appointment as a director of CPI with effect from the date of their becoming an Officer or appointment as Director General. Exceptionally, and subject to the prior approval of CPI Council, an Officer may decline to be appointed a director of CPI.
- 8.3 Persons appointed under 8.2 and 8.3 above shall be directors within the meaning of the Companies Acts.
- 8.4 CPI Council may also appoint a Company Secretary.

- 8.5 All other staff shall be appointed by the CPI Director General, or by senior staff authorised by the CPI Director General.
- 8.6 The Director General may appoint any employee of CPI to the position of associate director, and such associate directors shall be identified by a job title starting with the words "Director of". Associate directors are not directors within the meaning of the Companies Acts.

Delegation

- 9.1 CPI Council, FMB and the CPI Director General may delegate any of their powers.

Finance

- 10.1 Members shall pay an annual membership subscription which operates from 1st January in each year and shall be on such scale and on such basis as may from time to time be recommended by the FMB and approved by CPI Council. The annual membership subscription shall be payable in advance, on demand, but in any event by 31 March in each year.
- 10.2 The FMB may raise, as it thinks fit, such additional subscriptions, fees or charges, over and above the annual membership subscription, from those Members who have agreed to pay such additional subscriptions, fees or charges.
- 10.3 The membership subscription of incoming Members shall be payable in proportion to the remainder of the subscription year still to run.

Statistics

- 11.1 Members shall submit to CPI, or to its agents, such statistical data as may be called for and by the dates specified. CPI shall treat all such data as confidential.
- 11.2 CPI may publish, or supply to third parties, statistical data but only in a form which complies with UK competition law.

Health & Safety

- 12.1 It is expected that Members will participate and co-operate with the Health & Safety work of CPI.
- 12.2 It is further expected that Full Members will comply with any Health & Safety advice, guidelines or recommendations issued by CPI, either in its own name or jointly with other organisations.

Competition Law

- 13.1 It is the general policy of CPI to comply with all laws applicable to its activities. This general policy includes strict compliance with UK and EU Competition Law. Members and their representatives are therefore required to:-
- co-operate fully with the CPI's policy of compliance with competition law;
 - familiarise themselves with the provisions of competition law;
 - consider the competition law aspects of any CPI work they are involved in and if appropriate take relevant advice before voicing an opinion, exchanging information, committing to a course of action, taking a decision or reaching an agreement.

- 13.2 The CPI's Competition Law Policy applies to all activities of CPI including, but not limited to, its Sector Bodies, sectoral associations, Councils, committees, working groups, technical groups, and sub-groups.
- 13.3 Members and their representatives must avoid any action, decision or agreement that might suggest CPI is used as a vehicle to facilitate, or is a party to, any unlawful conduct under competition law.

CPI Sector Bodies

- 14.1 In addition to the four CPI Sector Bodies (Corrugated Packaging, Papermaking, Recovered Paper and Tissue), CPI Council may form such other CPI Sector Bodies as it considers appropriate.
- 14.2 Each CPI Sector Body shall have a written constitution in such form as may be approved by CPI Council. Any amendment to such constitution shall be subject to the approval of CPI Council.
- 14.3 Subject to its constitution, each CPI Sector Body may regulate its affairs and carry on its activities as it decides, but CPI Council shall have ultimate responsibility for everything done, or not done, by the CPI Sector Body.
- 14.4 If at any time CPI Council shall deem that the actions of a CPI Sector Body are contrary to that Sector Body's constitution or contrary to the interests of CPI, CPI Council shall have the power, which shall be exercisable in its absolute discretion, to dissolve that CPI Sector Body.
- 14.5 Each Sector Body will be responsible for:
- providing representation on CPI Council;
 - ensuring that the needs of its Members are reflected in the deliberations of CPI Council, and
 - identifying and funding those requirements that are particular to its Members' interests and not otherwise catered for within CPI.

CPI Issues Management Committee

- 15.1 The CPI Issues Management Committee (IMC) is responsible to CPI Council for dealing with issues faced by CPI Members by helping to establish a favourable operating environment, by providing a forum for discussion on non-competitive issues, and by providing information to assist them in their business.
- 15.2 The IMC shall have a written constitution in such form as may be approved by CPI Council. Any amendment to such constitution shall be subject to the approval of CPI Council.
- 15.3 The selection and prioritisation of issues will be approved by CPI Council on advice from the IMC and CPI Director General.
- 15.4 The IMC shall propose appropriate action, undertake information/data collection, and, where appropriate, monitor the impact of change on Members' activities.
- 15.5 In considering priorities, Council and the IMC will have regard to a number of "issues criteria", including:
- threatening legislation;
 - negative media attention;
 - negative public opinion/consumer activity;
 - ENGO activity;
 - attacks from other material sectors, and
 - Members' perception of opportunities and threats.

Revision of the Byelaws

- 16.1 Subject to the Articles, the directors may make any rule which they think fit about how they take decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or communicated to directors. In addition, and subject to the Articles, the directors may make such rules as they consider necessary or convenient for the proper conduct and management of CPI and for the purposes of prescribing the classes and conditions of membership.
- 16.2 A rule made by the directors will be effective when it has been incorporated into the Byelaws.
- 16.3 CPI Council, as the body representing the interests of CPI's members, may alter or repeal any rules made by the directors in accordance with the Articles.
- 16.4 The Company in general meeting may, by a special resolution of the Full Members, alter or repeal any rules made by the directors in accordance with the Articles.
- 16.5 The directors shall without unreasonable delay revise these Byelaws for any new rule, or change to an existing rule, which has been duly approved by CPI Council or by the Full Members.

Company number: 3886916
The Companies Acts 2006

COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE
AND NOT HAVING A SHARE CAPITAL

CONFEDERATION OF PAPER INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

(Adopted by Special Resolution passed on 17 October 2013)

Incorporated on 1st December 1999

CONTENTS

Article

1	PRELIMINARY
	INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
2	Defined terms
3	Liability of members
	DIRECTORS
	DIRECTORS' POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES
4	Directors' general authority
5	Members' reserve power
6	Directors may delegate
7	Committees
8	Secretary
	DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS
9	Directors to take decisions collectively
10	Unanimous decisions
11	Calling a directors' meeting
12	Participation in directors' meetings
13	Quorum for directors' meetings
14	Chairing of directors' meetings
15	Casting vote
16	Conflicts of interest
17	Records of decisions to be kept
18	Directors' discretion to make further rules
	APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS
19	Methods of appointing directors
20	Termination of director's appointment
21	Alternate Directors
22	Directors' remuneration
23	Directors' expenses
24	Associate directors

MEMBERS

BECOMING AND CEASING TO BE A MEMBER

- 25 Classes of membership
- 26 Applications for membership
- 27 Termination of membership

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

- 28 Notice of general meetings
- 29 Attendance and speaking at general meetings
- 30 Quorum for general meetings
- 31 Chairing general meetings
- 32 Attendance and speaking by directors and non-members
- 33 Adjournment

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

- 34 Voting: general
- 35 Errors and disputes
- 36 Poll votes
- 37 Content of proxy notices
- 38 Delivery of proxy notices
- 39 Amendments to resolutions
- 40 Written resolutions of members

COUNCIL

- 41 Council's general authority and powers

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

- 42 Means of communication to be used
- 43 Company seals
- 44 No right to inspect accounts and other records
- 45 Provision for employees on cessation of business

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

- 46 Indemnity
- 47 Insurance

DISSOLUTION

- 48 Dissolution of the Company

PRELIMINARY

1. Articles

- 1.1 Neither the model articles for private companies limited by guarantee prescribed pursuant to the Companies Act 2006, nor any other articles of association (whether prescribed pursuant to the Act or set out in any other statute, statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation concerning companies) shall apply to the Company.
- 1.2 In these articles, any reference to a provision of the Companies Act 2006 shall be deemed to include a reference to any statutory modification or re-enactment of that provision for the time being in force.
- 1.3 The headings used in these articles are included for the sake of convenience only and shall be ignored in construing the language or meaning of these articles.
- 1.4 In these articles, unless the context otherwise requires, references to nouns in the plural form shall be deemed to include the singular and vice versa.

INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

2. Defined terms

- 2.1 In the articles, unless the context requires otherwise—
 - “appointor” has the meaning given in article 21;
 - “articles” means the Company’s articles of association;
 - “bankruptcy” includes individual insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction other than England and Wales or Northern Ireland which have an effect similar to that of bankruptcy;
 - “Byelaws” has the meaning given in article 18;
 - “chairman” has the meaning given in article 14;
 - “chairman of the meeting” has the meaning given in article 31;
 - “Companies Acts” means the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act 2006), in so far as they apply to the Company;
 - “CPI Council” has the meaning given in article 41;
 - “director” means a director of the Company, and includes any person occupying the position of director, by whatever name called;
 - “document” includes, unless otherwise specified, any document sent or supplied in electronic form;
 - “electronic form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 2006;
 - “Full Member” has the meaning given in Article 25;
 - “group undertaking” has the meaning given in section 1161 of the Companies Act 2006;
 - “ordinary resolution” has the meaning given in section 282 of the Companies Act 2006;
 - “participate”, in relation to a directors’ meeting, has the meaning given in articles 12;
 - “proxy notice” has the meaning given in article 37;
 - “secretary” means the Secretary of the Company, if any, appointed in accordance with article 8 or any other person appointed to perform the duties of the Secretary of the Company, including a joint, assistant or deputy secretary;
 - “special resolution” has the meaning given in section 283 of the Companies Act 2006;
 - “subsidiary” has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006;
 - “undertaking” has the meaning given in section 1161 of the Companies Act 2006;

“working day” means a day that is not a Saturday or Sunday, Christmas Day, Good Friday or any day that is a bank holiday under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971 in the part of the United Kingdom where the Company is registered; and

“writing” means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other information in a visible form by any method or combination of methods, whether sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise.

- 2.2 Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained in these articles bear the same meaning as in the Companies Act 2006 as in force on the date when these articles become binding on the Company.

3. Liability of members

- 3.1 The liability of each member is limited to £1, being the amount that each member undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Company in the event of its being wound up while he is a member or within one year after he ceases to be a member, for—
- (a) payment of the Company’s debts and liabilities contracted before he ceases to be a member,
 - (b) payment of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, and
 - (c) adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves.

DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

4. Directors’ general authority

- 4.1 Subject to the articles, the directors are responsible for the management of the Company’s business, for which purpose they may exercise all the powers of the Company.

5. Members’ reserve power

- 5.1 Members entitled to vote at a general meeting may, by special resolution, direct the directors to take, or refrain from taking, a specified action.
- 5.2 No such special resolution invalidates anything which the directors have done before the passing of the resolution.
- 5.3 CPI Council, as the body representing the interests of the members of the Company, may direct the directors to take, or refrain from taking, a specified action.
- 5.4 No such direction from CPI Council invalidates anything which the directors have done before the passing of the resolution.

6. Directors may delegate

- 6.1 Subject to the articles, the directors may delegate any of the powers which are conferred on them under the articles—
- (a) to such person or committee;
 - (b) by such means (including by power of attorney);
 - (c) to such an extent;
 - (d) in relation to such matters or territories; and
 - (e) on such terms and conditions;
- as they think fit.
- 6.2 If the directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of the directors’ powers by any person to whom they are delegated.
- 6.3 The directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and conditions.

7. Committees

- 7.1 Committees to which the directors delegate any of their powers must follow procedures which are based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of the articles which govern the taking of decisions by directors.

- 7.2 The directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, which prevail over rules derived from the articles if they are not consistent with them.

8. Secretary

- 8.1 The directors may appoint a secretary to the Company for such period, for such remuneration and upon such conditions as they think fit; and any secretary so appointed by the directors may be removed by them.

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS

9. Directors to take decisions collectively

- 9.1 The general rule about decision-making by directors is that any decision of the directors must be either a majority decision at a meeting or a decision taken in accordance with article 10.

- 9.2 If—

- (a) the Company only has one director, and
- (b) no provision of the articles requires it to have more than one director,

the general rule does not apply, and the director may take decisions without regard to any of the provisions of the articles relating to directors' decision-making.

10. Unanimous decisions

- 10.1 A decision of the directors is taken in accordance with this article when all eligible directors indicate to each other by any means that they share a common view on a matter.
- 10.2 Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, where each eligible director has signed one or more copies of it to which each eligible director has otherwise indicated agreement in writing.
- 10.3 References in this article to eligible directors are to directors who would have been entitled to vote on the matter had it been proposed as a resolution at a directors' meeting.
- 10.4 A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the eligible directors would not have formed a quorum at such a meeting.

11. Calling a directors' meeting

- 11.1 Any director may call a directors' meeting by giving notice of the meeting to the directors or by authorising the secretary (if any) to give such notice.
- 11.2 Notice of a directors' meeting must be given to each director, but need not be in writing.
- 11.3 Notice of a directors' meeting need not be given to directors who waive their entitlement to notice of that meeting, by giving notice to that effect to the Company not more than 7 days after the date on which the meeting is held. Where such notice is given after the meeting has been held, that does not affect the validity of the meeting, or of any business conducted at it.

12. Participation in directors' meetings

- 12.1 Subject to the articles, directors participate in a directors' meeting, or part of a directors' meeting, when—
- (a) the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with the articles, and
 - (b) they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions they have on any particular item of the business of the meeting.
- 12.2 In determining whether directors are participating in a directors' meeting, it is irrelevant where any director is or how they communicate with each other.
- 12.3 If all the directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they may decide that the meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of them is.

13. Quorum for directors' meetings

- 13.1 At a directors' meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is to be voted on, except a proposal to call another meeting.
- 13.2 The quorum for directors' meetings may be fixed from time to time by a decision of the directors, but it must never be less than two, and unless otherwise fixed it is two.
- 13.3 If the total number of directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, the directors must not take any decision other than a decision—

- (a) to appoint further directors, or
- (b) to call a general meeting so as to enable the members to appoint further directors.

14. Chairing of directors' meetings

- 14.1 The directors may appoint a director to chair their meetings.
- 14.2 The person so appointed for the time being is known as the chairman.
- 14.3 The directors may terminate the chairman's appointment at any time.
- 14.4 If the chairman is not participating in a directors' meeting within ten minutes of the time at which it was to start, the participating directors must appoint one of themselves to chair it.

15. Casting vote

- 15.1 If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal, the chairman or other director chairing the meeting has a casting vote.
- 15.2 But this does not apply if, in accordance with the articles, the chairman or other director is not to be counted as participating in the decision-making process for quorum or voting purposes.

16. Conflicts of interest

- 16.1 Subject to paragraph 16.2, notwithstanding the fact that a proposed decision of the directors concerns or relates to any matter in which a director has, or may have, directly or indirectly, any kind of interest whatsoever, that director may participate in the decision-making process for both quorum and voting purposes.
- 16.2 If the directors propose to exercise their power under section 175(4)(b) of the Companies Act 2006 to authorise a director's conflict of interest, the director facing the conflict is not to be counted as participating in the decision to authorise the conflict for quorum or voting purposes.
- 16.3 Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and provided that (if required to do so by the said Act) he has declared to the directors the nature and extent of any direct or indirect interest of his, a director, notwithstanding his office:
 - (a) may be a party to or otherwise interested in, any transaction or arrangement with the Company or in which the Company is otherwise interested;
 - (b) may be a director or other officer or an employee of, or a party to any transaction or arrangement with, or otherwise interested in, any subsidiary of the Company or body corporate in which the Company is interested; and
 - (c) is not accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other benefits which he derives from any such office or employment or from any such transaction or arrangement or from any interest in any such body corporate and no transaction or arrangement is liable to be avoided on the ground of any such remuneration, benefit or interest.

17. Records of decisions to be kept

- 17.1 The directors must ensure that the Company keeps a record, in writing, for at least 10 years from the date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous or majority decision taken by the directors.

18. Directors' discretion to make further rules

- 18.1 Subject to the articles, the directors may make any rule which they think fit about how they take decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or communicated to directors.
- 18.2 Subject to the articles, the directors may make such rules as they consider necessary or convenient for the proper conduct and management of the Company and for the purposes of prescribing the classes of and conditions of membership. In particular, and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the directors may make rules regulating:
 - (a) the admission and classification of members of the Company, and the rights and privileges of such members, the conditions of membership and the terms on which members may resign or have their membership terminated and the entrance fees, subscriptions and other fees or payments to be made by members;
 - (b) the conduct of members of the Company in relation to one another, and to the Company's officers and employees;
 - (c) the setting aside of the whole or any part or parts of the Company's premises at any particular time or times or for any particular purpose or purposes;
 - (d) the procedure at general meetings and meetings of the directors and committees of the Company (in so far as such procedure is not governed by these articles); and

- (e) any and all other matters as are commonly the subject matter of Company rules.
- 18.3 The directors must adopt such means as they consider sufficient to bring to the notice of members of the Company all rules made under this article.
- 18.4 Any rules made by the directors under this article will be valid and binding as against all members of the Company for so long as such rules are in force.
- 18.5 The Company in general meeting may alter or repeal any rules made by the directors in accordance with this article.
- 18.6 CPI Council, as the body representing the interests of the members of the Company, may alter or repeal any rules made by the directors in accordance with this article.
- 18.7 All rules made by the directors under this article will be known collectively as the Byelaws of the Company.
- 18.8 Nothing in this article permits the directors of the Company to make any rules which are inconsistent with or affect or repeal anything in these articles or in any resolution passed by members of the Company or agreement to which Chapter 3 of Part 3 of the Companies Act 2006 applies.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

19. Methods of appointing directors

- 19.1 Any person who is willing to act as a director, and is permitted by law to do so, may be appointed to be a director—
- (a) by ordinary resolution of the members, or
 - (b) by a decision of the directors, or
 - (c) by a decision of CPI Council.
- 19.2 In any case where the Company has no members and no directors, the representative of the last member to have resigned has the right, by notice in writing, to appoint a person to be a director.
- 19.3 For the purposes of paragraph 19.2, where two or more members resign in circumstances rendering it uncertain who was the last to resign, the member out of the two with the longest continuous membership is deemed to be the last to resign.

20. Termination of director's appointment

- 20.1 A person ceases to be a director as soon as—
- (a) that person ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision of the Companies Act 2006 or is prohibited from being a director by law;
 - (b) a bankruptcy order is made against that person;
 - (c) a composition is made with that person's creditors generally in satisfaction of that person's debts;
 - (d) a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written opinion to the Company stating that that person has become physically or mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three months;
 - (e) by reason of that person's mental health, a court makes an order which wholly or partly prevents that person from personally exercising any powers or rights which that person would otherwise have;
 - (f) notification is received by the Company from the director that the director is resigning from office, and such resignation has taken effect in accordance with its terms.
 - (g) that person is, or may be suffering from mental disorder and either:
 - (i) he is admitted to hospital in pursuance of an application for admission for treatment under mental health legislation for the time being in force in any part of the United Kingdom; or
 - (ii) an order is made by a court having jurisdiction (whether in the United Kingdom or elsewhere) in matters concerning mental disorder for his detention or which wholly or partly prevents that person from personally exercising any powers or rights which that person otherwise would have; or
 - (h) that person has for more than six consecutive months been absent without permission of the directors from meetings of directors held during that period and the directors make a decision to vacate that person's office.
 - (i) a decision of CPI Council to terminate a director's appointment comes into effect.

21. Alternate directors

- 21.1 Subject at all times to approval by a decision of CPI Council, any director (the 'appointor') may appoint as an alternate any other director, or any other person approved by a decision of the directors, to:
- (a) exercise that director's powers; and
 - (b) carry out that director's responsibilities,
- in relation to the taking of decisions by the directors in the absence of the alternate's appointor.
- 21.2 Any appointment or removal of an alternate must be effected by notice in writing to the Company signed by the appointor, or in any other manner approved by the directors. The notice must:
- (a) identify the proposed alternate; and
 - (b) in the case of a notice of appointment, contain a statement signed by the proposed alternate that he is willing to act as the alternate of his appointor.
- 21.3 An alternate director has the same rights to participate in any directors' meeting or decision of the directors reached in accordance with article 10, as the alternate's appointor.
- 21.4 Except as these articles specify otherwise, alternate directors:
- (a) are deemed for all purposes to be directors;
 - (b) are liable for their own acts or omissions;
 - (c) are subject to the same restrictions as their appointors; and
 - (d) are not deemed to be agents of or for their appointors.
- 21.5 A person who is an alternate director but not a director:
- (a) may be counted as participating for the purposes of determining whether a quorum is participating (but only if that person's appointor is not participating); and
 - (b) may sign or otherwise signify his agreement in writing to a written resolution in accordance with article 10 (but only if that person's appointor has not signed or otherwise signified his agreement to such written resolution).
- No alternate may be counted as more than one director for such purposes.
- 21.6 An alternate director is not entitled to receive any remuneration from the Company for serving as an alternate director except such part of the remuneration payable to that alternate's appointor as the appointor may direct by notice in writing made to the Company.
- 21.7 An alternate director's appointment as an alternate terminates:
- (a) when his appointor revokes the appointment by notice to the Company in writing specifying when it is to terminate;
 - (b) on the occurrence in relation to the alternate of any event which, if it occurred in relation to the alternate's appointor, would result in the termination of the appointor's office as director;
 - (c) on the death of his appointor; or
 - (d) when his appointor's appointment as a director terminates.

22. Directors' remuneration

- 22.1 Directors may undertake any services for the Company that the directors decide.
- 22.2 Directors are entitled to such remuneration as the CPI Council determines—
- (a) for their services to the Company as directors, and
 - (b) for any other service which they undertake for the Company.
- 22.3 Subject to the articles, a director's remuneration may—
- (a) take any form, and
 - (b) include any arrangements in connection with the payment of a pension, allowance or gratuity, or any death, sickness or disability benefits, to or in respect of that director.
- 22.4 Unless the directors decide otherwise, directors' remuneration accrues from day to day.

23. Directors' expenses

- 23.1 The Company may pay any reasonable expenses which the directors and alternate directors properly incur in connection with their attendance at—

- (a) meetings of directors or committees of directors,
 - (b) general meetings, or
 - (c) separate meetings of the holders of debentures of the Company,
- or otherwise in connection with the exercise of their powers and the discharge of their responsibilities in relation to the Company.

24. Associate directors

- 24.1 The directors may, at any time and from time to time, appoint any employee of the Company to the position of associate director, and such associate directors shall be identified by a job title starting with the words "Director of".
- 24.2 An associate director shall at the request of the directors advise and assist the directors but shall not attend board meetings except at the invitation of the directors, and when present at board meetings he shall not vote, nor be counted in the quorum, but subject as aforesaid he shall as associate director have such powers, authorities and duties as the directors may in the particular case from time to time determine.
- 24.3 An associate director shall not be deemed a member of the board, nor any committee thereof, nor shall he be a director for any of the purposes of these articles or for any of the purposes of the Act.
- 24.4 Without prejudice to any rights or claims the associate director may have as an employee under any contract with the Company, any appointment as an associate director may be terminated by the directors at any time and shall ipso facto terminate if the associate director shall from any cause cease to be an employee of the Company.
- 24.5 An associate director may receive such remuneration (if any) in addition to the remuneration received as an employee of the Company as the directors shall from time to time determine.

MEMBERS

BECOMING AND CEASING TO BE A MEMBER

25. Classes of membership

- 25.1 Subject to the Articles and the Byelaws, a person involved in the Paper Industry may, at the absolute discretion of CPI Council, become a member of the Company on payment of the appropriate membership subscription. All members agree to be bound by the Articles and Byelaws of the Company.
- 25.2 Membership is available to persons who support the objectives of the Company.
- 25.3 The Company shall always have Full Member as a class of membership.
- 25.4 Membership as a Full Member is available, at the absolute discretion of CPI Council, to any person directly operating in the UK in one or more of the following sectors:
- collection and processing of recovered paper;
 - manufacture of pulp, paper or board and its conversion;
 - production of corrugated packaging;
 - manufacture of soft tissue paper;
 - related trades that use paper as a significant element of their products.
- 25.5 Where an undertaking that is a group undertaking and is eligible for membership as a Full Member applies for membership, the directors of the Company will determine whether any other of the group's undertakings, meeting the eligibility requirements of paragraph 25.4, is to be included in the application. Where only one group undertaking meets the eligibility requirements of paragraph 25.4, then that eligible group undertaking will be considered for membership as a Full Member. Where two or more of the group's undertakings meet the eligibility requirements of paragraph 25.4, then those eligible group undertakings will be considered together for a single group membership as a Full Member. For the avoidance of doubt, a group comprising two or more group undertakings meeting the eligibility requirements of paragraph 25.4, may have only one Full Member.
- 25.6 A Full Member is entitled to attend, speak and vote at a general meeting of the Company. The only class of membership entitled to vote at a general meeting of the Company is that of Full Member.

- 25.7 Full Member means any person whose name appears in the Company's Register of Members and shall be the only class of membership to which the meaning of member, given in section 112 of the Companies Act 2006, will apply.
- 25.8 A person eligible for membership as a Full Member shall not be eligible for any other class of membership.

26. Applications for membership

- 26.1 No person shall become a member of the Company unless—
- (a) that person has completed an application for membership in a form approved by the directors, and
 - (b) the directors have approved the application.

27. Termination of membership

- 27.1 A member may withdraw from membership of the Company by giving notice to the Company in accordance with the Company's Byelaws.
- 27.2 Membership is not transferable.
- 27.3 A person's membership terminates when that person dies or ceases to exist. A member so excluded shall forfeit all claims to a return of the money paid by it to the Company on its admission as a member, and by way of subscriptions, fees or charges but shall remain liable for any arrears.
- 27.4 A member may be expelled if CPI Council determines that the member has acted against the interests of the Company or is in serious breach of its conditions of membership. A minimum of seven clear days' notice shall be given to the member of CPI Council's intention to consider the member's expulsion. The member shall have the right to be heard at the next meeting of CPI Council before any vote is taken on the matter. A member so expelled shall forfeit all claims to a return of monies paid by it to the Company on its admission as a member, and by way of subscription, fees or charges, but shall remain liable for any arrears.

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

28. Notice of general meetings

- 28.1 Every notice convening a general meeting of the Company must comply with the provisions of:
- (a) section 311 of the Companies Act 2006 as to the provision of information regarding the time, date and place of the meeting and the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting; and
 - (b) section 325(1) of the Companies Act 2006 as to the giving of information to members regarding their right to appoint proxies.
- 28.1 Every notice of, or other communication relating to, any general meeting which any member is entitled to receive must be sent to each of the directors and to the auditors (if any) for the time being of the Company.

29. Attendance and speaking at general meetings

- 29.1 A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that person is in a position to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the meeting, any information or opinions which that person has on the business of the meeting.
- 29.2 A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when—
- (a) that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote at the meeting, and
 - (b) that person's vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not such resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons attending the meeting.
- 29.3 The directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to enable those attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it.
- 29.4 In determining attendance at a general meeting, it is immaterial whether any two or more members attending it are in the same place as each other.
- 29.5 Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend a general meeting if their circumstances are such that if they have (or were to have) rights to speak and vote at that meeting, they are (or would be) able to exercise them.

30. Quorum for general meetings

- 30.1 No business other than the appointment of the chairman of the meeting is to be transacted at a general meeting if the persons attending it do not constitute a quorum.
- 30.2 If and for so long as the Company has only one member entitled to vote at a general meeting, one member entitled to vote at a general meeting, present in person or by proxy or, in the event that the member is a corporation, by corporate representative, is a quorum.
- 30.3 If and for so long as the Company has two or more members entitled to vote at a general meeting, two members entitled to vote at a general meeting, present in person or by proxy or, in the event that any member present is a corporation, by corporate representative, are a quorum.

31. Chairing general meetings

- 31.1 If the directors have appointed a chairman, the chairman shall chair general meetings if present and willing to do so.
- 31.2 If the directors have not appointed a chairman, or if the chairman is unwilling to chair the meeting or is not present within ten minutes of the time at which a meeting was due to start—
 - (a) the directors present, or
 - (b) if no directors are present), the meeting,must appoint a director or member to chair the meeting, and the appointment of the chairman of the meeting must be the first business of the meeting.
- 31.3 The person chairing a meeting in accordance with this article is referred to as “the chairman of the meeting”.

32. Attendance and speaking by directors and non-members

- 32.1 Directors may attend and speak at general meetings, whether or not they are members.
- 32.2 The chairman of the meeting may permit other persons who are not members of the Company to attend and speak at a general meeting.

33. Adjournment

- 33.1 If the persons attending a general meeting within half an hour of the time at which the meeting was due to start do not constitute a quorum, or if during a meeting a quorum ceases to be present, the chairman of the meeting must adjourn it. If, at the adjourned general meeting, a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed therefor or, alternatively, a quorum ceases to be present, the adjourned meeting shall be dissolved.
- 33.2 The chairman of the meeting may adjourn a general meeting at which a quorum is present if—
 - (a) the meeting consents to an adjournment, or
 - (b) it appears to the chairman of the meeting that an adjournment is necessary to protect the safety of any person attending the meeting or ensure that the business of the meeting is conducted in an orderly manner.
- 33.3 The chairman of the meeting must adjourn a general meeting if directed to do so by the meeting.
- 33.4 When adjourning a general meeting, the chairman of the meeting must—
 - (a) either specify the time and place to which it is adjourned or state that it is to continue at a time and place to be fixed by the directors, and
 - (b) have regard to any directions as to the time and place of any adjournment which have been given by the meeting.
- 33.5 If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place more than 14 days after it was adjourned, the Company must give at least 7 clear days’ notice of it (that is, excluding the day of the adjourned meeting and the day on which the notice is given)—
 - (a) to the same persons to whom notice of the Company’s general meetings is required to be given, and
 - (b) containing the same information which such notice is required to contain.
- 33.6 No business may be transacted at an adjourned general meeting which could not properly have been transacted at the meeting if the adjournment had not taken place.

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

34. Voting: general

- 34.1 A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is duly demanded in accordance with the articles.
- 34.2 On a vote on a resolution at a general meeting on a show of hands, every member entitled to vote at a general meeting, who is present in person, by proxy or (being a corporation) by corporate representative has one vote.
- 34.3 On a vote on a resolution at a general meeting on a poll, every member entitled to vote at a general meeting, who is present in person, by proxy or (being a corporation) by corporate representative has one vote for every £1,000 or part of £1,000 payable in membership subscription by the member for the financial year in which the vote is held.
- 34.4 For the purposes of paragraphs 34.3 and 40.3, amounts payable to the Company in respect of the Company's own subscription or contribution to other persons, shall be included in membership subscription. For the avoidance of doubt, amounts payable to the Company for a specific service, activity, campaign or event of the Company for which the Company does not pay a subscription for that service, activity, campaign or event, shall not be included in membership subscription.

35. Errors and disputes

- 35.1 No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a general meeting except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered, and every vote not disallowed at the meeting is valid.
- 35.2 Any such objection must be referred to the chairman of the meeting whose decision is final.

36. Poll votes

- 36.1 A poll on a resolution may be demanded—
- (a) in advance of the general meeting where it is to be put to the vote, or
 - (b) at a general meeting, either before a show of hands on that resolution or immediately after the result of a show of hands on that resolution is declared.
- 36.2 A poll may be demanded by—
- (a) the chairman of the meeting;
 - (b) the directors;
 - (c) two or more persons having the right to vote on the resolution; or
 - (d) a person or persons representing not less than one tenth of the total voting rights of all the members having the right to vote on the resolution.
- 36.3 A demand for a poll may be withdrawn if—
- (a) the poll has not yet been taken, and
 - (b) the chairman of the meeting consents to the withdrawal.
- 36.4 Polls must be taken at the general meeting at which they are demanded and in such manner as the chairman directs.

37. Content of proxy notices

- 37.1 Proxies may only validly be appointed by a notice in writing (a "proxy notice") which—
- (a) states the name and address of the member appointing the proxy;
 - (b) identifies the person appointed to be that member's proxy and the general meeting in relation to which that person is appointed;
 - (c) is signed by or on behalf of the member appointing the proxy, or is authenticated in such manner as the directors may determine; and
 - (d) is delivered to the Company in accordance with the articles and any instructions contained in the notice of the general meeting to which they relate.
- 37.2 A proxy notice and any authentication of it demanded by the directors must be received at an address specified by the Company in the proxy notice not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy appointed pursuant to the proxy

notice proposes to vote; and any proxy notice received at such address less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting shall be invalid.

- 37.3 The Company may require proxy notices to be delivered in a particular form, and may specify different forms for different purposes.
- 37.4 Proxy notices may specify how the proxy appointed under them is to vote (or that the proxy is to abstain from voting) on one or more resolutions.
- 37.5 Unless a proxy notice indicates otherwise, it must be treated as—
- (a) allowing the person appointed under it as a proxy discretion as to how to vote on any ancillary or procedural resolutions put to the meeting, and
 - (b) appointing that person as a proxy in relation to any adjournment of the general meeting to which it relates as well as the meeting itself.

38. Delivery of proxy notices

- 38.1 A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote (either on a show of hands or on a poll) at a general meeting remains so entitled in respect of that meeting or any adjournment of it, even though a valid proxy notice has been delivered to the Company by or on behalf of that person.
- 38.2 An appointment under a proxy notice may be revoked by delivering to the Company a notice in writing given by or on behalf of the person by whom or on whose behalf the proxy notice was given.
- 38.3 A notice revoking a proxy appointment only takes effect if it is delivered before the start of the meeting or adjourned meeting to which it relates.
- 38.4 If a proxy notice is not executed by the person appointing the proxy, it must be accompanied by written evidence of the authority of the person who executed it to execute it on the appointor's behalf.

39. Amendments to resolutions

- 39.1 An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution if—
- (a) notice of the proposed amendment is given to the Company in writing by a person entitled to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not less than 48 hours before the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the chairman of the meeting may determine), and
 - (b) the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the chairman of the meeting, materially alter the scope of the resolution.
- 39.2 A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by ordinary resolution, if—
- (a) the chairman of the meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting at which the resolution is to be proposed, and
 - (b) the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a grammatical or other non-substantive error in the resolution.
- 39.3 If the chairman of the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an amendment to a resolution is out of order, the chairman's error does not invalidate the vote on that resolution.

40. Written resolution of members

- 40.1 Subject to paragraph 40.2, a written resolution of members passed in accordance with Part 13 of the Companies Act 2006 is as valid and effectual as a resolution passed at a general meeting of the Company.
- 40.2 The following may not be passed as a written resolution and may only be passed at a general meeting—
- (a) a resolution under section 168 of the Companies Act 2006 for the removal of a director before the expiration of his period of office; and
 - (b) a resolution under section 510 of the Companies Act 2006 for the removal of an auditor before the expiration of his period of office.
- 40.3 On a vote on a written resolution of members, every member entitled to vote at a general meeting, has one vote for every £1,000 or part of £1,000 payable in membership subscription by the member for the financial year in which the vote is held. The amount payable in membership subscription by the member will be determined in accordance with Paragraph 34.4.

COUNCIL

41. Council's general authority and powers

- 41.1 The interests of the members of the Company shall be represented by a Council ("CPI Council").
- 41.2 The composition and proceedings of CPI Council and the appointment of CPI Council members shall be in accordance with the Byelaws.
- 41.3 As stated in article 5, CPI Council, as the body representing the interests of the members of the Company, may direct the directors to take, or refrain from taking, a specified action.
- 41.4 As stated in article 18, CPI Council, as the body representing the interests of the members of the Company, may alter or repeal any rules (the Byelaws) made by the directors in accordance with that article.

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

42. Means of communication to be used

- 42.1 Subject to the articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the Company under the articles may be sent or supplied in any way in which the Companies Act 2006 provides for documents or information which are authorised or required by any provision of that Act to be sent or supplied by or to the Company.
- 42.2 Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, a document or information may be sent or supplied by the Company to a person by being made available on a website.
- 42.3 A member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom and who gives to the Company an address within the United Kingdom at which notices may be sent to him or an address to which notices may be sent by electronic means is entitled to have notices sent to him at that address, but otherwise no such member is entitled to receive any notices from the Company.
- 42.4 If the Company sends or supplies notices or other documents by—
 - (a) first class post and the Company proves that such notices or other documents were properly addressed, prepaid and posted, the intended recipient is deemed to have received such notices or other documents 48 hours after posting.
 - (b) electronic means and the Company proves that such notices or other documents were properly addressed, the intended recipient is deemed to have received such notices or other documents 24 hours after they were sent or supplied.
 - (c) means of a website, the intended recipient is deemed to have received such notices or other documents when such notices or other documents first appeared on the website or, if later, when the intended recipient first received notice of the fact that such notices or other documents were available on the website.

For the purposes of paragraph 42.4, no account shall be taken of any part of a day that is not a working day.

- 42.5 Subject to the articles, any notice or document to be sent or supplied to a director in connection with the taking of decisions by directors may also be sent or supplied by the means by which that director has asked to be sent or supplied with such notices or documents for the time being.
- 42.6 A director may agree with the Company that notices or documents sent to that director in a particular way are to be deemed to have been received within a specified time of their being sent, and for the specified time to be less than 48 hours.

43. Company seals

- 43.1 Any common seal of the Company may be used by the authority of the directors or any committee of directors.
- 43.2 The directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to be used.
- 43.3 Unless otherwise decided by the directors, if the Company has a common seal and it is affixed to a document, the document must also be signed by:
 - (a) one authorised person in the presence of a witness who attests the signature; or
 - (b) two authorised persons.
- 43.4 For the purposes of this article, an authorised person is—
 - (a) any director of the Company;

- (b) the secretary (if any); or
- (c) any person authorised by the directors for the purpose of signing documents to which the common seal is applied.

44. No right to inspect accounts and other records

- 44.1 Except as provided by law or authorised by the directors or an ordinary resolution of the Company, no person is entitled to inspect any of the Company's accounting or other records or documents merely by virtue of being a member.

45. Provision for employees on cessation of business

- 45.1 The directors may decide to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than a director or former director or shadow director) in connection with the cessation or transfer to any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of the Company or that subsidiary.

DIRECTORS' INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

46. Indemnity

- 46.1 Subject to paragraph 46.2, a relevant director of the Company or an associated Company may be indemnified out of the Company's assets against—

- (a) any liability incurred by that director in connection with any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company or an associated Company,
- (b) any liability incurred by that director in connection with the activities of the Company or an associated Company in its capacity as a trustee of an occupational pension scheme (as defined in section 235(6) of the Companies Act 2006),
- (c) any other liability incurred by that director as an officer of the Company or an associated Company.

- 46.2 This article does not authorise any indemnity which would be prohibited or rendered void by any provision of the Companies Acts or by any other provision of law.

- 46.3 In this article—

- (a) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are subsidiaries of the same body corporate, and
- (b) a "relevant director" means any director or former director of the Company or an associated Company.

47. Insurance

- 47.1 The directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense of the Company, for the benefit of any relevant director in respect of any relevant loss.

- 47.2 In this article—

- (a) a "relevant director" means any director or former director of the Company or an associated Company,
- (b) a "relevant loss" means any loss or liability which has been or may be incurred by a relevant director in connection with that director's duties or powers in relation to the Company, any associated Company or any pension fund or employees' share scheme of the Company or associated Company, and
- (c) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are subsidiaries of the same body corporate.

DISSOLUTION

48. Dissolution of the Company

- 48.1 The Company shall be dissolved or merged only upon the recommendation of CPI Council followed by a special resolution of the members eligible to vote at a general meeting being passed in favour of the dissolution or merger.
- 48.2 Upon the dissolution of the Company, its property shall be sold and its assets applied in satisfaction of the debts and liabilities of the Company and, subject thereto, shall be distributed among the Full Members (provided that they were Full Members of the Company on the day on which the resolution for dissolution is passed) in accordance with the terms for distribution set out in the resolution for dissolution.